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BUILDINGS AT RISK

Historic Ballaughton estate:
it’s a cautionary tale of loss

In this week’s Buildings at Risk, Susan Temple looks at an historic estate on the outskirts of Douglas, which at one time had three grand villas or houses. Two were lost, but the
Jjewel of Ballaughton Manor was supposed to be saved - sadly Ballaughton has now been lost as well.

creened by trees,

three fine grand

houses once stood

on the west side of

the New Castle-
town Road on the approach to
the Quarterbridge.

These weren’t just single-
family houses, they were es-
tates, supporting not only
those who lived and worked
on the estates themselves, on
their farms and at their mills;
butalsothe wider community.

They have undoubtedly
evolved, and new chapters
were written, but have now
all been wiped off the face of
the earth. First Springfield
and Harcroft; there was still
Ballaughton — but now all are
gone.

This is the story of an es-
tate, its fragmentation, and
the main player and the last
tobelost - Ballaughton.

Ballaughton, Harcroft and
Springfield were three re-
gency villas, originally in the
Parish of Braddan, about two
miles outside Douglas.

Manorial Rollsdating back
to the Bishop’s Barony of 1580
showthat thewhole ofthe Bal-
laughton Estate was held by
one Henry Crye.

In 1583 he was succeeded
by John Aughton, who gave
his name to the house ‘Bal-
laughton’.

In 1585 the Quarterland
was divided into two equal
parts,one held by the Corkills
and the other the Curleods.

The Ballaughton Curleod
land remained in their family
for more than 200 years, un-
til1805, when it was bought by
Harrison of the Woodbourne
Estate for £5,000.

Within the next 25 years,
twohouseswere constructed,
Harcroft and Springfield.

The Ballaughton Corkills
sold their halfin 1808 to Mun-
go Murray, of the Duke of
Atholl’'s entourage, for £4,157.

In 1813, Murray sold part
of the estate to the Duke for
£500, and in 1820 sold a fur-
ther portion for £500 to Colo-
nel Mark Wilks, the owner
of the neighbouring estate of
Kirby and who had been Gov-
ernor of St Helena when Na-
poleon Bonaparte was exiled
there.

This presumably included
the site of ‘St Helena’ (since
lost through demolition),
which was said to have been
used as the ‘Kirby’ residence

Ballaughton asit stood until recently

when the present Kirby House
was being completed.

In 1824, the Duke of Atholl
sold his portion of land to
John Wulff a lawyer of Swed-
ishdescent from Liverpool for
£5,000, and it is he who built
the last Ballaughton Mansion
Housein the late 1820s.

In1826, Wulffsetup abank
in partnership with Edward
Forbes, whichin1836 became
the Isle of Man Joint Stock
Banking Company, but after
the death of Wulffin 1840, it
closed in 1843 with debts to
its London agent of over
£70,000.

hebuilding that
housed the Wolff
and Forbes bank
was one of those
on the North
Quay mentioned in a previous
Buildings at Risk article; un-
fortunately this premises was
omitted from the recent regis-
tration of the Newson’s ware-
house which it adjoined.

Wulff’s vault, in Old Kirk
Braddan churchyard, is -
relatively — on a similar scale
to his house at Ballaughton;
the inscription, as well as his
death, records the death of
other members of the family,
including John Wulff’s two
wives, one of whom was ‘born
at Barbados’.

After John Wulff’s deathin
1840, the advertisement for
Sale offered the house plus 9o
acres of ‘excellent land’, with
a hothouse heated by steam,
several detached dwellings,
coach house, farmhouse and
threshing mill.

In 1846, advocate G.W.
Dumbell, as Wulff’s executor,
sold the same portion to Sam-
uel Harris for £7,420 which
waslater re-transferred to the
same G.W. Dumbell!

G.W. Dumbell, founder of
Dumbell’s Bank, died in 1887,
13yearsbeforethebank failed.

According to the Mona’s
Herald of June 6, 1906, after
thecollapse of the Bank ‘it was

acommon saying amongstold
peopleinthesixties, based on
certain transactions, and no-
tably in connection with the
‘Waulffs, former owner of Bal-
laughton, that the Dumbell
family would never survive
three generations in this is-
land, and it has come true’.

umbell and
Harris were to
become com-
petitors when
High Bailiff
Harris took aleadingrole
in setting up the Isle of Man
Banking Company Limited in
1865.

It is difficult to imagine
how great a part the owners
ofhouses such as Ballaughton
played inlocal society.

Theywere expected to give
generously to local charities
and church affairs.

In a time when there was
no assistance for the poor
except (very uncharitable)
indoor and outdoor relief, a

—-—

benevolent landowner would
provide for the wants and
needs of his servants, farm
labourers, and their families.

Theywould be clothed, fed
andlooked afterwhentheyfell
sick.

They,in turn, were expect-
ed to work hard, go to church
regularly and generally be
grateful.

In the Victorian age, the
ladies of these big houses
were expected to support lo-
cal good works and, particu-
larly in Douglas where there
were a number of such hous-
es, taketheleadin supporting
the Lieutenant Governor and
his wife.

Inthelsle of Man Examiner
of December3,1887,anadver-
tisement appears for ‘A Grand
Bazaar and Sale of Work in
aid of the Fund for Establish-
ing Homes for Gentlewomen
in Reduced Circumstances
under the Distinguished Pa-
tronage of the Lieut. Governor
and Mrs Spencer Walpole, The

LordBishop and MrsBardsley,
Lady Gell, Mrs Goldie Taub-
man......and offering such de-
lights as Concerts, Tableaux
Vivants, Wax Works, Pepper’s
Ghostand otheramusements’.

Or for the Kirk Braddan
New Organ Fund (Manx Sun
08.10.1892), Bazaar and Free
Concert.

nall cases the Ladies’

Committee seems

to consist of the la-

dies of The Vicarage,

Harcroft, Ballamona,
Kirby, Springfield, the Nun-
nery and Ballaughton.

There was a report of a
particularly ‘splendid spec-
tacle’ in the Mona’s Herald
of November 30 1910 for the
Braddan Christmas Fair and
Tree, whose aim was to raise
£1,000 (or more) to build a
much needed church room.

Lady Raglan was the pre-
siding genius of the tree, and
‘she was aided by a company
of beautiful fairies in white
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John Wulff's Ballaughton drawn by Charles Vignolesin 1829 (Manx Museum Library)

and silver...Lord Raglan had
no sooner declared the fair
open than the fairies, who
hadringed himround, sprang
away to the tree, lifting their
wands when instantly the
treebecameresplendent with
stars, illuminating the whole
space with their streams of
light... The fair took place at
the Palace, which was deco-
rated to resemble an English
village green’ There were 18
stalls selling everything from
silver and linen to cigars and
tobacco.

RECENT HISTORY

Ballaughton wasbought by
the Father-in-law of Deemster
Percy Cowleywhogaveittohis
daughterasawedding present
in1920.

In1922,80acresoftheland
was sold toa Mr William David
Inston, together with the old
farmhouse, stablesetc., which
he held until his death when
the farmhouse and buildings

Ballaughtoninner hallway

were bought by Mr Cambell,
latterly of Kirby Estates.

In 1937, the Cowleys sold
two fields totalling 12.3 acres
to the borough of Douglas for
the Ballaughton Nurseries,
which provides all the plants
used today by the borough for
their parks and gardens.

Sir Percy Cowley is also
known for his generous gift
of 763 acres of land above The
Sound which formed the basis
ofthe Manx National Trust.

In 1937 Douglas Corpo-
ration wished to extend its
boundaries to include Pul-
rose (which at that time was
in Braddan).

One of the reasons was
that in 1928 the first houses
were constructed in Pulrose
and the Douglas Corporation
buseswere only allowed to op-
erate within the town bound-
ary;also there were anumber
of large houses which they
wished to include to bring in
more money in rates to Doug-

las. After the Commission
hadreported it was eventually
agreed toexclude Springfield,
Harcroft, Ballaughtonand the
Nunnery from the redrawn
boundary.

They tried again in about
1960, and again thelargehous-
eswon.

Itwasnotuntil the current
boundaries were drawn that
all these buildings were in-
cluded in Douglas.

Sir Percy and Lady Cowley
lived at Ballaughton until their
deaths, and after her death in
1959, it was bought by Major
Thomas Brownsdon.

Much of the remainder of
the Ballaughton land was sold
over a period of years, leaving
today only the land immedi-
ately round the house.

The house itself has since
been demolished.

WHAT HAPPENED?

After Springfield and
Harcroft were demolished,

Bow-front gable

the jewel of Ballaughton re-
mained.

In 2013 the Manx Govern-
ment proposed adding Bal-
laughton to the Protected
Buildings Register.

hevery detailed
49 page report on
the property, its
condition and its
significance, con-
cludes:“.... Ballaughton House
isamajor, if not pivotal, exam-
ple ofits genre, the precur-
sor of which led to the wider
development of this particular
architectural style throughout
theisland.

‘Architecturally it repre-
sents a major landmark fea-
ture which was quite possibly
amongst thefirst ofitskind on
thelsle of Man...

The report goes on to say
that Ballaughton House and
grounds should be ‘placed on
the Registered Buildinglist for
its architectural heritage, its
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Fannin's 1789 map, showing ‘Ballafton’ Estate
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socialand economicrelevance
and its close historical asso-
ciation to that of the Duke of
Athol, George Dumbell et al,
and most especially for its ex-
tensive retention of original
period features throughout
set within unspoilt grounds.

And the government re-
port finishes by saying: ‘This
is a truly exceptional proper-
tyworthy ofitsinclusion onto
the protected buildings reg-
ister.

However, despite all the
work preparing the report,
andtheweight ofevidence, the
final steps to add Ballaughton
to the Protected Buildings
Register never took place.

In 2015 a planning appli-
cation was made to redevelop
the majority of Ballaughton.

Whilst it would have been
better to have conserved
more, many felt that applica-
tion - which did at least keep
key aspects such as the front-
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(Manx Museum Library)

age and gable bays - was a
price worth paying to allow a
new sustainable chaptertobe
written for Ballaughton.

Unfortunately in 2016 the
developer/owner changed
their minds and applied to
raze the site completely.

Whilst the planning appeal
inspector dismissed claims
that a few scattered traces
of asbestos justified demoli-
tion, he concluded that the
government’s neglect to com-
plete the Registration meant
that Ballaughton had no pro-
tection; and as there was no
other control of demolition
of free-standing buildings
outside conservation areas,
there was no means by which
Ballaughton could be saved if
the owner did not so wish.

We hope and trust that
withtherecentrecruitment of
aregistered buildings officer
we will not see such tragedies
in future.



